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       (Photo by Richard F. Hope) 

Universalist Church (225 Ferry Street)


3-story, white brick commercial building, originally in “Second Empire” architectural style.
  The center of the roof façade (if examined carefully) shows the pattern of a filled-in oval window,
 which is now (2010) half-visible from renovations being undertaken on the third floor inside. 

In 1847, this property was purchased for $2000 by two trustees of the First Universalist Society of Easton “as a Site upon which to Erect and build a church”.  At that time, the property already had a frame building on it.
  The stone church building (now partly covered in places in brick and brickote) was begun in that same year:  a marble date stone reading “1847” is visible a few feet up from the ground at the street corner of the building.
  The building was dedicated at a religious service on 20 February 1848.  The newspaper described the building as being “of stone, 42 by 63 feet in its dimensions, and contains 70 pews, that will occommodate [sic] from 455 to 500 persons.  It is finished in a neat plain and substantial manner, and carpeted and furnished in handsome style throughout.  The pulpit, in particular, is a pattern of neatness and good taste.”
  The same newspaper contained an announcement that the on the following Sunday, the Rev. Mr. Burn would deliver a sermon “appropriate to the death of John Quincy Adams”, which was the main topic of news of the day.
   


The Universalist Society of Easton was formally incorporated later that year, and title to the property was conveyed to the new corporation in 1850.
  The Universalist Church of America originated in the 18th Century, and adopted a general doctrine known as the Winchester Profession in 1803. It is a Christian church that grew originally from Calvinist roots, but reacted against the Calvinist doctrine that only the “elect” of God were saved from eternal damnation.  The central Universalist belief was that God would save all souls, and would not relegate anyone to “eternal punishment” in Hell.  Universalists differed on whether they believed punishment for sins was limited to this world, or could also be administered after death.
  By way of illustration, the Easton Universalist Pastor in 1850 gave four public lectures concerning the “comparative moral influence of the doctrine of endless punishment, and that of limited punishment, resulting in Universal Salvation.”
  In general, the liberal Protestant Universalist Church reached the high-point of its membership in America in 1847-48
 -- the very years when the Easton church was built and dedicated.  In general, one of the American Universalist Church’s accomplishments was the founding of Tufts University in 1852;  notable Universalists have included Benjamin Rush (signer of the Declaration of Independence, first President of the Pennsylvania Society for Promoting the Abolition of Slavery, political advocate); Horace Greeley (newspaper publisher and politician);  and P.T. Barnum (circus and museum entrepreneur).  Universalist membership fell in later years, and it merged with the Unitarians in 1961.
 

The Easton “First Universalist Church” was listed in the city directory for 1855, although no pastor was noted.
  There is some authority that the Universalists had left the building vacant by 1860.
  During the night of 24-25 September 1862, soldiers headed for the Union Army (and the Battles of Chancellorsville and Gettysburg) spent the night in this Church, before boarding the train for Harrisburg.
  The First Baptist Church of Easton held services in the building “[f]rom 1865 to the late 1860s”.
  Mrs. “Georgie” Chidsey would later recall – presumably upon hearsay evidence – that the Universalist Church on Ferry Street had a woman preacher at one time:  a notable development for even Mrs. Chidsey’s slightly later era.
  Although the building was still listed as a church in the 1874 Atlas, its denomination is not readable,
 and the Universalists were not included as an ongoing denomination in the 1873 city directory.
  With the inauguration of the modern street numbering scheme in 1874, 225 Ferry Street was assigned to the paint shop of E.B. Hopkins.
 


In 1875, William H. King moved his “hat bleacher” business into the building.
  In 1881, presumably because the property was no longer being used as a local church, ownership of the church building and the front part of the lot was transferred to the Universalist Convention for the state.
  In 1885, King purchased this church property from the Trustees of the Pennsylvania Universalist Convention for $4500.
  King’s business soon expanded into dying and “French” dry cleaning.
  
· An inscription over the door of the building in 2007 stated that King’s Cleaners has been in operation “since 1868”.  By 1870, Mr. King’s store was open for business as a “vat [hat?] presser”, and in 1873 simply as a “hatter”, both listed in the Old Newspaper Building on Northampton Street.
   
William King died in 1918 after a 5-year illness,
 leaving a life estate in the property to his wife, Lillian Smith King, and then ownership of the property to the family of his sister, Anna Amelia Catharine Leidich.
  His obituary reported that “His establishment at Ferry and Sitgreaves streets was the largest and best known of its kind in this section of the country.”
  A photograph taken in that year shows the building with a steeply pointed roof, a triangular gable facing Ferry Street, and gutters.
   
· The modern rectangular front roof façade (facing Ferry Street) visible in the photograph above was apparently added since 1918.  Moreover, the roof along Sitgreaves Street that resembles a Mansard form is unlikely to be one in fact (since their popularity long predated 1918).  Instead, it may be that the slope is the result of cutting off the point of the roof visible in the 1918 photo, leaving only the bottom portion of the angled roof while the top was flattened out, and a rectangular false façade was applied to the front of the gable. 
· The Phoenix Steam Laundry located on the other side of Sitgreaves Street at 219 Ferry Street did not apparently use a dry cleaning process.  The Phoenix Steam Laundry moved to Northampton Street in approximately 1906.
 

In 1924, King’s estate sold the business to Alexander Sandor Friedman and his partner, Alex Weber.  Friedman had immigrated from Hungary as a young man to New York City, where he became “one of the pioneers in the dry-cleaning industry at the turn of the century.”  In the 1930s, he established other offices of King’s Cleaners in Hazleton and Bethlehem (in partnership with Sam Solomon).
  He and his wife purchased the King’s Cleaners building and property from King’s heirs in 1946.
  Friedman sold both of his branch offices, and then retired from the Easton business in 1951, dying at age 79 in 1966 after a decade’s residence in Miami, Florida.  
· One of Friedman’s sons, Dr. George A. Friedman, was the valedictorian of Easton High School in 1926, graduated from Lafayette College in 1930, and went back to Hungary to the University of Budapest to obtain his medical degree.  He then practiced medicine in New York City for 40 years, becoming an authority in medical-legal matters.

Alexander Friedman’s heirs sold the Ferry Street property to King’s Cleaners and Dyers, Inc. in 1969.
  After that corporation ceased doing business at the end of 1986 (and dissolved by 1988), the building and (apparently) the business devolved to the ownership of Friedman’s son-in-law, Arthur R. Kaduk,
 who immediately re-involved his wife, Blanche
 (Friedman’s daughter
).  The Kaduks’s attempt to sell the property to a limited partnership in 2003 resulted in them having to foreclose on a mortgage in 2007,
 and resell the property in 2008.
  The dry cleaning business, which (under owner Ahsanul Howlader had 17 employees in 2007), was discontinued from the building at about that time.
  New York City hardware artist Carl Martinez
 purchased the building in 2007,
 and undertook extensive renovations to restore and highlight the original stone building.  Mr. Martinez has also done extensive renovations on his home, the beautiful Keller Town House at 109 North 4th Street.
  In 2016, Martinez was able to contract a sale to a tech company, for its East Coast headquarters.
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